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 Pittsburgh has long been recognized as one of the nation’s most important industrial city, especially during America’s “industrial revolution”. Pittsburgh was an early and significant factor in the industrial development of the iron, steel, glass, gas, aluminum and transportation industries.  The names of the leaders of these industries – Carnegie, Frick, Mellon, and Westinghouse – are recognized by all.  However, the atmosphere of the “Smoky City” appears to have obscured what was happening in Pittsburgh in the field pictorial art photography.  Even now, there is very little awareness of Pittsburgh’s place in the history of pictorial photography. Contrary to the general understanding, Pittsburgh was one of the earliest and important centers of pictorial photography. Pittsburgh was among the first cities in the United States to establish a photography club committed to the art of photography.  This club - the Photo Section of the Academy of Science and Art of Pittsburgh - is still in existence, making it the oldest, continuously operating club in the USA.  Through the decades, Pittsburgh has held highly rated photo exhibitions; with a good share of the works done by Pittsburgh’s amateur photographers.

  THE AMATUER PHOTOGRAPHERS’ SOCIETY
 Prior to the 1880s, there were very few talented amateur photographers – most practitioners of this new technology were professionals, primarily portrait photographers.  With the technical advancements in photography in the 1870s and 1880s, the increasing availability of photo materials and decreasing costs, photography as a pastime began to grow very rapidly.  As one would expect, at that time this was mainly a hobby of the upper middle class, who had the necessary leisure time and financial recourses.   Very early in this period, photo hobbyists began to meet to discuss technical issues, go on bicycle rides to find photo subjects and share the results of their efforts.  By  mid 1886, THE PHOTOGRAPHIC TIMES AND AMERICAN PHOTOGRAPHER  listed only 17 amateur photo clubs in the USA.1  Of specific  interest,  on May 11, 1885, A. S. Murray, an amateur photographer in Pittsburgh, invited several enthusiasts to his home with the intent of organizing a photo club. That evening, they formed The Pittsburgh Amateur Photographer’ s Society.  The twelve founding members attending that  meeting included  A. S. Murray, George. S. Orth and W. S. Bell, who went on to hold long and important positions in the club.2 Messrs, Orth and Bell were selected to draw up the by-laws and at the next meeting on  May 26, 1885,  the following officers were selected:  Mr. Murray for  president, John A. Brashear for vice president,  Mr. Bell as secretary  and W.E. Bonhorst as treasurer. 3 Thirty-nine members were present at this first election.   On  June 8th, the Society held its first meeting in its new home in Neville Hall, at 59 Fourth Avenue.4 By year end  the membership grew to fifty eight; including one woman, E. S. Paul.5 It is interesting to note that  some clubs did not accept female members during the early years  of  photography’s growth.  In a report by President Murray, in the first half of  1886  the club added 26 new members, three of whom were  ladies. 6
 During these years and for many years later, club meetings were held  monthly.  During the early years, meetings included viewing photographs and lantern slides, presentations (including darkroom work at their rooms at Neville Hall) and doing exhibitions and outings. As one might expect, club meetings also became opportunities for entertainment and social activity. On May 29, 1886 they “had a delightful excursion to Harper’s Ferry and got many historical and attractively artistic views, besides having a jolly time.” 7 However, about their two day excursion in November on the Shenango and Allegheny Railroad, they reported that “it was quite a success socially, but a failure photographically, owing to very inclement weather”. 8 Such is the life of dedicated amateur photographers.

 One of the more important areas of club activity was the making and presentation of lantern slides.  Initially, slides were brought to club meetings for presentation and comment. In1885, the Cincinnati Amateur Association and the New York Amateur Society agreed to exchange sets of lantern slides for exhibition purposes. 9 The success and interest was so great that it was extended to other clubs.  On February 20, 1888, The American Lantern Slide Interchange was formed.  The initial nine member clubs were: Photographic Society of Philadelphia, Philadelphia Amateur Photographic Club, The Society of Amateur Photographers of New York, The Brooklyn Camera Club, The Boston Camera Club, The Pittsburgh Amateur Photographers’ Society, The Cincinnati Camera club, The St. Louis Association of Amateur Photographers, and the Chicago Lantern Slide Club. 10 The object of this organization was the promotion of photography through the medium of lantern slides.  This group is also the earliest important group of amateur photography clubs in America.  

 The highlight of every amateur photo club was- and remains - the annual photographic exhibition.  The Pittsburgh club was no exception.  On April 15 and 16, 1886, the Pittsburgh Amateur Photographers’ Society (Photo Society) held their first annual photography exhibition in the Art Gallery in the Allegheny Library.  There were over four hundred prints shown of varying sizes from four-by-five inch prints to eleven-by-seventeen inch prints, a goodly number of transparencies and two hundred lantern slides.  They brought in three local photographers and a local artist to judge the photos; to select an award for each of some twenty-three different categories. 11 

 The second annual exhibition of the Photo Society opened on the evening of March 28, 1887 at Neville Hall, with a reception for the members and friends of the Society.  One significant change from the prior exhibition rules was the admission of amateur and professional photographers outside the Photo Society to compete in the exhibition. During the next three days of public viewing, in addition to the viewing of the approximate 1,500 pictures hung around the walls, there were lantern slide shows from the member’s exhibit and from the St Louis Society and Cincinnati Society.  Diplomas were awarded in 25 different categories. Of note, President Murray received five awards and Edith Darlington received two. 12 At the time of the exhibit, the Photo Society’s membership was up to 109 - seven of whom were ladies.  

 In 1888 the third annual exhibition was held on March 27th through the 30th. This was a scaled-down exhibition with about four hundred pictures.  Of interest at this exhibit were photographs made with new magnesium flash-lighting illumination.  The exhibition was considered a very successful one.  At this exhibit, the Pittsburgh Post news paper recognized William J. Hunker for the notable quality of his work.  13  

 Unfortunately, there are no detailed records of the fourth exhibition – held in 1889.  The fifth Annual Exhibition of lantern slides, photographs and transparencies was held on February 5 and 6, 1891, in their rooms at the Thaw Mansion. 14 The sixth annual exhibition occurred on May 10, 1892. 15 While no records were found regarding annual exhibits after 1892 to 1898, there surely were some.

 With continuing improvements in the technology of photography and the sociological changes during this decade, amateur photography grew significantly. As an indicator, on September 26, 1897, the Sunday Post (of Pittsburgh) recognized this as an important trend and launched a weekly photo competition. “The Pittsburgh Amateur Society has many enthusiastic members, whose annual exhibitions are of especial merit and attract wide attention.  The society has grown constantly, and the grade of its productions has had an equal increase since its formation. It is because of this great interest in photography  by  amateurs that ‘The Sunday Post’ will lend its help toward  fostering love for the art and will do so in a manner to stimulate the best efforts  of all amateurs who read it. ……Beginning with next Sunday, “The Sunday Post” will give a cash prize of $10 each week for the best picture sent to it by any amateur photographer.” 16 The Post asked each submitter to give a history of how the picture was made and to provide the picture mounted and prepared as for exhibition.  The winning print and some other quality prints were published in the Post.  All of the submitted prints became the property of the Post. 
 During these years,  the names of members of the Photo Society  that appear most frequently – as officers and / or photo exhibition awardees, include W. S. Bell, L. S. Clark, W. S. Clow, C. C. Craft, Miss. Edith Darlington, A. M. Murray and G. S. Orth. 20

   Carnegie and the Academy

 In the later 1880s and into the 1890s, Pittsburgh was in a state of sociological change.   Pittsburgh had gone through many years of industrial growth, becoming the nation’s leader in steel production and an important   producer of glass and steel products, such as rails, bridges and locomotives.  Pittsburgh was considered a workshop and cared little about anything else.   With a small upper class and no middle class to speak of, there was limited social or cultural activity. However, industrial growth brought gradual improvements to the city’s infrastructure, increasing commercial activity and a growing middle class.  Also, the wealthy of Pittsburgh awakened to their social responsibilities and made significant contributions toward the city’s infrastructure and cultural and educational life. In 1886, Andrew Carnegie donated funds to build a library in Allegheny; it was dedicated in 1890.  Then, also in 1890, Carnegie offered a million dollars for the erection of a library in Pittsburgh. A new era began on December 5, 1895 when the Carnegie Library and Music Hall was handed over to the city by its donor, Andrew Carnegie.  In the period between 1904 and 1907, he provided funds to expand the building to house the art and natural history museums.  

 In October of 1889, the Photo Society received a communication from the Iron City Microscopical Society asking for the appointment of a committee from the Photo Society to meet with a committee from the Scientific and other societies of like nature, for the purpose of forming a confederation of the differing societies and securing a permanent home with accommodations for each society. 1 At a meeting on November 5, 1889 the delegates from the various scientific and artistic societies – including the Photo Society - met to formulate a plan.  On December 26, 1889, they reported their recommendation: “We, the subcommittee, and report:  1st. That in our opinion a scheme of federation, pure and simple, is not practical.  2nd. That we recommend the formation of an Academy of Science and Art, which shall have as one of its objectives, the providing a home for these societies represented in this conference.  3rd. That we submit the following plan organization of an Academy of Science and Art (The Academy) for consideration. 2 

 On March 8, 1890, a formal application was made for the formation of The Academy. There were 46 signatories, led by Andrew Carnegie, John A. Brashear, the well known lens maker, W. J. Holland, Chancellor of Carnegie Institute and Henry C. Frick, a senior officer of Carnegie Steel. 3 Following the required approvals and legalities, The Academy was recorded on March 10, 1890. Mr. W. Holland was appointed President of The Academy. At the first meeting of The Academy’s Council, on March 31, 1890, the following committees were established; Building & Furnishing, Library & Collections, Finance & Membership, Art gallery and Lectures & Programming of meetings.  Mr. Brashear, from the Building & Furnishing committee promptly began a search for a home for The Academy members. As William Thaw (1818-1889), the transportation magnate of Pittsburgh, had just passed away the prior year, The Academy was able to obtain a four year lease of the Thaw mansion  (which stood  immediately west of what was at one time the Hornes department store) at a cost of  $1,200.00 per annum. The initial member organizations of the Academy were: The  Art Society, The Engineers Society, The Western  PA Architectural  Society, The Iron City Microscoptical Society, The Botanical Society, The Pittsburgh Amateur Photographers Society and, for a brief time, The Odontagraphic Society  (it dropped out soon after formation of The Academy). 4 

  In January of 1894, when Mr. Brashear went to get an extension, he was advised that the Thaw mansion had been leased to the YWCA. 5   While the timing was not perfect for the Academy, they knew that the new Carnegie Library would soon be completed; providing its eventual home.  In the meantime, The Academy Council moved their meetings to the Carnegie Library in Allegheny. 6 With the dedication of the new Carnegie Library in Oakland on November 5, 1895, the then current  six Sections (Art, Engineers, Architectural, Microscoptical, Botanical and Photo Society) had a new luxurious home.   The Carnegie Library provided meeting rooms for each of the Sections and use of the lecture hall for the Academy’s lectures. The Photo Society’s rooms (a committee room and a lecture room) were quite suitable for their monthly meeting.  Also, gallery space was provided on the third floor for members’ works. A darkroom was also available; complete with all the equipment and necessary chemicals-free to members. 7  

 On March 14,1896  the Amateur Photographers’ Society received its Certificate of Incorporation. 8 At that time it had eighty-four regular members,  two honorary members - J. A. Brashear and John Beatty, Director of the Carnegie Art Galleries and Lifetime  Member, Andrew Carnegie. 9 On January 11, 1900, The Academy Council approved the formation of the “Photographic Section of The Academy of Science and Art of Pittsburgh”, thus modifying the original name - “The Amateur Photographers’ Society”. 10 The new name later came to be more commonly called the “Photo Section” – the name by which it was known for many successful decades.  

Pictorialists and the Photo Salon

 In the 1880s the amateur movement began to grow to meaningful levels and a marked division developed between the masses making record shots and those who were more studied, to varying degrees, considered themselves as serious photographers. 

 These photographers were generally amateurs who made images for their own pleasure and attempted to differentiate their work from those who merely made snapshots. The intent of these amateurs was to use photography as a means of expression – what came to be called pictorial photography. These Pictorialists, took their work seriously and would use processes that would give greater control of the final image; such as paper negative, gum bichromate and the Bromoil process.  The rapid growth of photography programs and camera clubs was central to the growing popularity of pictorialism in the United States.  Well-run clubs encouraged cooperation, collaboration and camaraderie. However, pictorialism was not exclusive with the amateurs; it influenced professional photographers – especially in the use of soft focus techniques.  And, as one might expect, some amateurs eventually became professionals.

 With the advancement of this pictorialist period, there were many conflicts on what was a pictorial image and even more important for many, the legitimacy of photography as an art.  During this period there were two important centers of amateur photograph -, England and the United States.  In one analysis of the period, there was a significant difference in principal between American and European Pictorialists.  Europeans considered pictorial photography as though it were a new method of art expression and presented their subjects in a manner which is not dissimilar which they would have employed it with brushes and pencil.  American photographers   on the other had, treated pictorial photography as a new departure – to the Americans, each photograph is an experiment. 3
 In England, by 1900, the advocates of photography as a fine art had split into two camps –purists and  pictorialists.  Purists considered it sufficient to obtain a perfect negative, while Pictorialists sought the beautiful and picturesque – through manipulation and special processes, such as gum, bromoil techniques.  Such conflicts were not insignificant as they involver such organizations as the Royal Photographic Society of London and the elitist, “Brotherhood of the Linked Ring”. Within America, there were also several perspectives to Pictorialism, but none as influential as those of Alfred Stieglitz.    A discussion on this subject is left to the next chapter.

 The pictorial movement, as a definitive and concrete term has been said to have been at the International Exposition in Vienna Austria in 1891.  That was followed in1892 by an exhibit by the London Photographic Society.  In 1893, one year after its founding, the Linked Ring held the first Photographic Salon (London) where, for the first time in the history of photographic exhibitions, (1) no awards were offered, (2) the photographs were judged by a committee of photographers, and (3) only photographs showing distinct artistic merit were accepted and hung. The establishment of “Salons” in America were not far behind.   In 1896, a salon modeled upon that of London, was held at Washington.  It was followed by the Pittsburgh Salon in 1898, 

 With the growth of pictorialism and the increasing appreciation of photography as a fine art, galleries increasingly accepted photographs and exhibitions upgraded their status to “Salon”.  Quoting an article from the AMERICAN AMATEUR PHOTOGRAPHER of March 1898:

  It was a bold move that prompted the Pittsburgh Amateur Photographer’s Society to hold an international salon and exhibition at the Carnegie Galleries…  Following so closely upon the splendid array of paintings brought together through the instrumentality of those who already knew from past experiences the taste of a critical public,   the ambitious spirit of the officers governing the society of lens and camera is responsible for a photographic treat, that in itself is sufficient to stamp the event of importance in the art world. Considering that the exhibit was the first of the Pittsburgh Amateur Photographer’s Society, and taking into consideration, also, that oils and colors appeal more directly to the eye than the delicate black and white effects of the photograph, it was a surprise to observe with what interest the walls of the galleries were scanned.5 

  The Photo Society held the salon from January 18 through February 6, 1898.  The exhibit was in three classes; a Salon, a General Exhibition and a Special Exhibition. Of the 750 prints submitted, the judges selected seventy-one for the Salon.  A larger number were selected for the General Exhibition; these being meritorious entries, but not judged sufficiently artistic to be classed in the Salon.  The Special Exhibition was separate from the others as it was intended to spur-on members of the Photo Society who had not the experience or training to qualify acceptance into the Salon.  The Salon’s Grand Prize was split between Clarence H. White – a highly regarded pictorialist who was just getting national recognition – for The Readers, and James L. Nix – a member of the Photo Society - for Reflections. 6  By any measure, the exhibition was a success. Attendance over the 19-day exhibit reached 23,000. 7
 It is important to note that Pittsburgh was an early entrant into the salon movement. The Pittsburgh salon preceded the first Philadelphia Photographic Salon, which opened on October 24, 1898.  The Philadelphia salon was considered to be one of the first and highly regarded international salons held in this country. 8   This Philadelphia salon and their next two salons were also successes  and well recognized nationally – possibly, to some degree, due  to the support and involvement  of Alfred Stieglitz -by this time Stieglitz was the most highly recognized photographer in the country - who promoted the exhibits and  juried Philadelphia’s  third salon. However, while Philadelphia’s salon appears to have received greater national recognition, Pittsburgh’s salon had superior local support for It’s first salon - Philadelphia’s first salon saw only 13,000 visitors during its 26-day exhibit.  Pittsburgh’s national recognition was also passed over by Chicago’s first salon - April 3 – 18, 1900 – to some degree, due to Stieglitz.  When the Chicago Society of Amateur Photographers began planning its salon, they gave Stiglitz  a free hand in arranging it. One might conjecture that Pittsburgh’s lesser recognition by the national media was due to the absence of the involvement of a photographer of Stieglit’s stature.
 With the success of its first salon, the Photo Society was encouraged to proceed with the next salon.  Mr. J. H. Hunter, Secretary of the Photo Society, stated in that they were working to secure for Pittsburgh a permanent photo salon that would be the greatest the world. He also noted that Boston was the only American city with a permanent salon of this kind. With the finest gallery – at the Carnegie – and the available financial support, he stated that they have every reason to be successful. 9 The second salon ran from February 1 - 20, 1899.  Some 2,000 photographs were received, of which 1,200 were hung in the three galleries – quite a large collection for such an exhibit.  Of these, 283 were selected for the Salon and hung in the Carnegie’s West gallery.  The Salon prints were selected “as possessing exceptional artistic merit, artistic aim in the selection of subject or other features revealing true works of art.” No awards were made in theSsalon section, it being considered a sufficient honor to be admitted. Nineteen members of the Photo Society were admitted to the Salon; including members mentioned earlier – Clow, McVay and Nix.  The General Exhibition – considered separate from the Salon- occupied the main gallery and included photographs of merit without sufficient artistic excellence to be accepted for the Salon.  The Members’ Exhibit, also treated as a separate exhibition, was in the Carnegie’s East gallery.  This was, as in the prior year, an exhibit to encourage members to work toward the salon level. 10
 A” Third Annual Photographic Salon” was held at the Carnegie’s art galleries from May 17th - 31st, 1900. It basically followed the pattern of the prior salon; the West Gallery was used for the Salon prints, the Main gallery housed the General Exhibition and the Special Exhibit was in the East Gallery. According to the Pittsburgh Post reviewer, it was the best by far attempted to date and more varied; in part due to more pictures from overseas. Two hundred twenty four pictures were selected for the Salon.  In addition to those three exhibits, the Photo Society invited Mr. C. Yarnall Abbott of Philadelphia to show eighty three of his works in the West Gallery. 11  This was in addition to the ten prints he had in the Salon section.  Mr. Abbot was the president of the Photographic Society of Philadelphia and a prolific writer on photography. 12
 The American Photographic Salon
 While Stieglitz was promoting his elitist ideas on the direction of pictorial art photography, other American clubs were searching to establish a salon program that emulated the aesthetic criteria of the Photo-Secession, but operating on a more democratic and broader base.  In 1904, Louis Flekenstine of Faribult, Minnesota, Carl Rous of LaCross, Wisconsin, both recognized pictorialists, and Curtis Bell-a professional photographer that had recently moved to New York to establish a commercial photo   studio, met in New York to create The American Federation of Photographic Societies.  1 The Federation developed a plan to organize a single national exhibition every year that would travel to the major camera clubs in the United States. 2   Their objective was a program that would assure a quality exhibition and relieve them of the tedious task of organizing individual salons around the country.  Curtis Bell was elected chairman of the Federation.  The Federation established three categories of membership; salon, exhibition and regular.  Only clubs in the first class, of cities of populations of over 100,000 people, were included on the national tour of the American Photographic Salon. While only twelve cities were initially in the tour, in later years, other cities were included and some were dropped.  According to the Federation’s plan, participating clubs would send their mounted prints to a designated central location, where the prints would be evaluated by qualified judges.  For the first salon the judges had the monumental task of reviewing over 9,100 entries. After two full days of judging prints, they selected 369 prints, by 175 photographers. 3   While the Federation had hoped to exhibit this salon at a prestigious museum, it was exhibited in New York City at the Claussan Art Galleries, from December 5   to 7, 1904.  However, with the next venue, it did get its wish for a prestigious museum- the first salon was exhibited in Pittsburgh at the Carnegie Institute, on February 3 – 19, 1905.  This exhibition was sponsored by the Photo Section.   With this exhibition, Pittsburgh’s amateur photographers would become among the most supportive of this new salon series.

 The second American Salon (1905 – 1906) was again exhibited at the Carnegie Institute galleries – on January 12 – 28, 1906 - under the direction of the Photo Section.  With this salon, the Federation modified the judging to a three stage process; eliminating prints that had previously been shown, a screening by a jury of twenty-four renowned   photographers and the final judging made up of nineteen, mostly national academicians – who judged about 1,000 prints.  The salon contained 350 prints by 128 exhibitors.  Among the better known pictorialists in the exhibit were Curtis Bell, A. D. Chaffe, and Louis Flekenstein.  Twenty-four prints by eight Pittsburghers had been selected, including C. W. Davis, Samuel Martin and R. L Sleeth Jr. As was the practice at that time, duplicate prints could be purchased from most exhibitors and prices were listed in the salon catalog.  Prices ranged from five dollars to as high as fifty-five dollars, with most ranging between five and 10 dollars. 4   As in the prior year, prizes were awarded - $100 American Federation purchase award for the best picture, a $50 award for best landscape, and a $50 award for the best landmark. 

 In 1907, R. L. Sleeth Jr. replaced Curtis Bell as president of the Federation, making Wilkinsburg – a beauro adjacent to Pittsburgh - the headquarters of the American Federation of Photographic Societies. Mr. Sleeth was then largely responsible for the organization of the third American Salon. The judging of the photographs took place at the “Pen, Pencil and Camera Club”-a recently formed club in Pittsburgh, with a limited membership of twenty.  Records do not show that this salon was exhibited in the Pittsburgh area. 

 The fourth salon was exhibited in Wilkinsburg on November 3 – 18, 1907, under the auspices of the Pen, Pencil and Camera Club.  With this salon, they abolished all awards – to remove the competitive overtones and return true salon status to the American Photographic Salons.

 As the salon series approached its midpoint, problems developed; more of the photographers selected  for the salon were coming from the judges  themselves – reaching up to one-fifth of the show and the number of  submissions had decreased, dropping from 9,100 to 1,200 entries  for the fourth salon.. 5 Also, the number of participating clubs increased and more clubs were asking to see the salons-complicating the management of the salon program.

 With the salon series of 1908-1909 and 1909-1910, the salon took on a Midwestern orientation.  In 1910 George W. Stevens, of Toledo, Ohio became the president of the American Federation - the position previously held by Mr. Sleeth.  Toledo became the single point for print entries and the jury was reduced to five members, the majority of them being museum directors. 6 The Pittsburgh venue for the fifth salon was on January 1 – 15, 1909 at the Carnegie Institute with a collection of 306 prints.  According to the critic from the Pittsburgh Index, the strength of the exhibit was its portraits - 85 prints out of the 306 were in that category.  7   R. L. Sleeth was again well represented with ten pictures – the largest group by any other exhibitor. Over the two week exhibit, there were some 6,000 visitors to the exhibit.

 

By this time, additional changes and problems anticipated an ending of the series.

While attendance at the exhibits was still strong, entries were decreasing. The eighth salon (1911 –1912) only had ninety-six acceptances, falling short of its targeted one-hundred-fifty pints.  However, Pittsburgh photographers continued to be active participants – twenty-one prints by twelve Pittsburgh photographers were accepted for the eighth salon. R. L. Sleeth was again a successful entrant with five prints.  Then, in the ninth salon, Pittsburghers had twelve acceptances, by six individuals - five by Mr. Sleeth.  8    . Over the period of the nine salons, eight were exhibited in Pittsburgh, with seven being exhibited at the Carnegie Institute galleries. Hosting the seven were, one –in January, 1906- by the Photo Section, three by the Pittsburgh Camera Club and three by the Pen, Pencil and Camera Club.  The later club also hosted the fourth salon at a gallery in Wilkinsburg.  It is important to note that it was not uncommon for members of one club to also be a member of  other photo  clubs.  On a national basis, only Pittsburgh, New York City, Chicago, Toledo, Indianapolis and Philadelphia were fortunate to host a majority of the salons. All the other participating clubs were only able to host two or three of the salon tours.

 While the American Photographic Salon was a high light event for the Photo Section, the club had a number of other important activities.  By this time, the club was holding two meetings a month, one on the second Tuesday and one on the fourth Tuesday of each month.  Activities included lantern slide exhibits, photography methods and demonstrations, presentations and print critiques. As a member of the American Federation of Photographic Societies, the Photo Section was active in the American Lantern Slide Interchange.  When the Federation established the Print Exchange in 1907, the Photo Section was one of the founding members, along with the eight premier clubs located between Chicago and Portland Mane.  Another important club event was the annual member’s photo exhibition – held in the Fall of the year so as not to interfere with the National Salon program.  The First Annual Exhibit was held on September 15 – 23, 1905 at the East Liberty Branch of the YMCA. This juried exhibit contained 161prints from  thirty members, including  nationally recognized pictorialists – Charles Davis, O. C. Reiter, R. L. Sleeth, H,.L. Waldridge and Samuel Martin 9 Thus, while some of the works were surely of salon quality, many were short of  the quality  required to reach  the level needed to be exhibited at the Carnegie Institute.  However, an important aspect of this program was to give encouragement to the Photo Section members to work toward the salon level.

   The Pittsburgh Salon

 With the termination of the American Photographic Salons, in 1914, the Photo Section initiated a new salon series, that was to run, unbroken, for sixty-seven years, making it among longest running series of salons in the United States.  On January 3- 31, 1914, The Pittsburgh Salon of National Photographic Art was exhibited at the Carnegie Institute. This exhibition  included  sixty-seven prints from ten Photo Section members,  122  loan exhibitor prints from the Buffalo Camera Club,  The Camera Club of  New York,  Chicago Photo Fellows, Orange Camera Club,  Portland Camera Club of Portland, Maine, Wilkes-Berre Camera Club plus a selection  of fifty four prints from individuals in the Eastern United States. Exhibitors of note included two Photo Section members, O. C. Reiter and H. C. Torrance. 1
 

 The Second Annual Salon at the Carnegie ran from March 1- 31, 1915. The format of this exhibition was similar to the first: a total of 317 prints were included in the exhibition - sixty-one prints came from eleven Photo Section members, 190 prints from collections from the Buffalo Camera Club, Brooklyn Institute, The Camera Club of New York, Chicago Photo Fellows, Orange Camera Club, Portland, Maine Camera Club, “Platinum Print” Collection of New York, the Wilkes-Berre Camera Club and sixty two prints from eleven selected individuals. Included in the exhibition were such highly regarded photographers, as Alvin Langden Coburn, Gertrude Kasebier, Dr. D. Ruziecka, Fred Archer, Imoge Cunningham, Louis Flekenstein and Margrethe Mather. 2 

 The Third Salon ran from March 1 - 31, 1916, with prints hung in gallery F of the Carnegie.  The format for this exhibition, and of all future salons, was the traditional judging process. Three outside, well experienced judges, usually photographers, were selected. This exhibition of 299 prints included such well known American pictorialists as Fred Archer, Charles Archer, Dr. A. D. Chaffee, Forman Hanna and Dr. D. J. Ruzicka, plus eleven photographers from Pittsburgh. 3 The aim of the Salon “has been to exhibit only that class of work in Pictorial Photography in which there is distinctive evidence of personal artistic feeling and execution”.  4 Within just a few years, photographic leaders, such as Frank R. Fraprie were calling the Pittsburgh Salon the most important exhibition, “even our national salon,” on the basis of its consistent quality and the encouragement new exhibitors received. 5 Of interest, during this early period, the Photo Section, as well as other salons, would not accept photographs that were older than a year or had  been accepted in any other  American salon-following the most restrictive principals of the classical art salons. 6 That was quite different from the later practice where the same print was regularly submitted to multiple salons.

 With the Fourth Annual Salon in 1917, the Photo Section dropped the word “National”, in anticipation of foreign submissions. 7 The first foreign acceptances came from Canada and England for the salon of 1919. 8 In 1953 (30th Salon) the name was again modified to “The Pittsburgh International Salon of Photographic Art”, which was to remain as the salons’ title until its last salon in 1980. 9 However, even before that, in the1936 salon, 110 individuals from outside the United Stats submitted 420 prints; of which, sixty-one prints were accepted.  Regarding submissions from the United States - for this same salon from- of the 396 individuals submitting1488 prints, there were 180 acceptances. While the number of  prints submitted in 1936 was higher than in 1935 by 156 prints, the acceptances decreased in 1936 by eighty five; suggesting that the Photo Section’s salon was still committed to “quality over quantity”.  In 1938, the 25th. Salon experienced its biggest salon activity; 2389 prints were received form 642 entrants, of which, fifty nine foreign entrants submitted 214 prints. 10    Salon acceptances totaled 349 prints, with 34 foreign acceptances- making this salon among one of the largest Photo Section exhibitions.  The interest in photography at this time can also be measured by the significant number of visitors to these exhibitions at the Carnegie; for example some sixteen-thousand attended the salon  of 1935. 

 Pittsburgh was not alone in this flurry of salon activity.  In the 1930s the number of camera clubs multiplied in unprecedented numbers.  The number of camera clubs nationwide – about fifty to seventy – remained relatively steady during the 1910s and 1920s.  In the 1930s and 1940s, the number of clubs increased some twenty fold. 11   As the number of clubs grew, the number of salons doubled during the 1930s. 12   By other counts, the number of camera clubs went from less than a thousand in 1938 to over 3,000 three years later.   These numbers do not include any  clubs in high schools or small clubs formed in companies.  In the case of Pittsburgh, there were no photo clubs, other than the Photo Section, until after1900.  At about that time, the two clubs mentioned earlier –“ The Pittsburgh Camera  Club” and the “Pen, Pencil and Camera Club” -  became  active in the salon programs.  How ever, it appears that these two clubs did not last very long as there were no mentions after the early 1920s. 

 Encouraging and supporting the growth of camera clubs was the establishment of the Association of Camera Cubs.  In December of 1920, the “Associated Camera Clubs of America” was founded with twenty-two member clubs.  Soon after, the Photo Section joined the Association.  In December, 1933, the organization changed its name to the Photographic Society of America (PSA)  - the name it still carries today - and prepared a new constitution, in particular, to provide for individual memberships. One hundred individual members were enrolled as Charter Members.  Among them were several Photo Section members – Byron Chatto, Clare J. Crary, James C. Larsen,  O. C. Reiter and P. F. Squire.  13 The First Annual Meeting of the PSA was held on April 8, 1934 at the Pittsburgh Webster Hotel. The session was in conjunction with the Photo Section’s twenty-first salon.  As Pittsburgh’s salons were among the highest rated in the country,  it also saw the annual  visit by  the Cleveland  Photographic Society and the Portage Camera Club of Akron – by special trains. Many others came, representing photo clubs from Dayton, Cincinnati,  Canton, Erie, Newark, Dearborn and the Kodak Camera Club of  Rochester.  14   In 1935, the PSA again held its annual conference in Pittsburgh. It is surprising that the PSA did not hold another annual conference in Pittsburgh until the first week of September, 2002.  

 As the Pittsburgh Salon was one of the premier salons in the country, it was an excellent showcase for the purchase of pictorial photography. As mentioned earlier, visitors to the American Photographic Salons – of 1904 to 1913 – were offered to purchase duplicate prints from the salon.   During the Pittsburgh salons of the 1920s and 1930s it was common to include in the exhibit catalog a statement such as the one in the Seventh Salon in 1920: We ask our Contributors to name a sale price for their prints, if any. 18 And for visitors:  Inquire at the desk if interested. However, prices were never posted on the prints nor on the show catalogs. Periodically, there were publications that gave recent sale prices for salon prints;  $10 to $15 a print was quite common, with an occasional $50, or more, for print by a highly regarded (usually European) print makers.  In1932 Byron H. Chatto,  then the Secretary-Treasurer of the Photo Section,  wrote an article for the American Annual of Photography called “Selling Exhibit Pictures.” 19   In it he suggested prices of five to ten dollars for bromide and chloride prints and ten to twenty five dollars for control process prints, such as carbons, bromoils and gum bichromates. Apparently, the salon photography market did not recognize ‘inflation’, considering that over several decades, the selling prices did not increase very much, if at all.  Even in the 1970s , prints by  known pictorialists could be purchased for twenty five to fifty dollars.   Mr. Chatto also pointed out that some buyers wanted to purchase the print that was actually in the exhibition (not a later-made duplicate), assuring the quality of the print.  To some collectors, the  exhibition acceptance labels,  commonly applied to the back of the salon  print mount, were also important . A print in good condition and carrying multiple acceptance labels was a clear indicator of  the print’s quality. Another common practice was the trading of prints between exhibitors.  In collections of  some pictorial photographers, one can find prints  signed to the recipient on the back of the mount.  Print trading was an effective and inexpensive way to build ones collection. However, print sales and trades were very limited. However, there were exceptions, especially in the cased of  the more highly regarded pictorialists.  In the Pittsburgh salon of 1924, all six of Leornard Misonne’s Bromoil prints were sold. Four years later, it was reported that seventy-five prints were sold-at a salon that had no prints by Misonne.  In the early and mid  years of  the pictorialist  period (1910s to 1930s), some pictorialists were not interested in releasing their prints as creating a pictorial image was time-consuming  - such as in the case of bromoil, gum and carbon prints - and the pictorialist needed to make few prints for exhibitions. Also, pictorialists  were  more interested in going out to find and create new images than making duplicate prints.  

 Unfortunately,  because of  damage and destruction of  salon prints – apparently  because of a lack of appreciation -  many, if not most of these prints did not survive.  Even within the Photo Section, there were significant losses -  families of pictorialists discarded prints, sold them at flea markets or, worse, put print  collections away for decades in damaging environments- damp basements and hot attics are major print destroyers.  Fortunately, there were individuals who had enough appreciation and understanding of these works to collect pictorial prints and assure  their  long term safety. The PSA and several museums, including the Museum of Science and Industry, the Brooklyn Museum and the Smithsonian are known to have such collections.20   Other than some private individual collections, it is believed that very few photography clubs maintain a pictorial photographic archive and that few if any hold collections of the size or importance of that of the Photo Section. The Photo Section is very fortunate to have such a print collection This collection of over 700 prints is the result of decades of care and foresight of  the officers and members of the Photo Section.   Periodically, prints are added  as they came available - usually from current members. Contained in this collection are significant, if not the largest collections of  pictorial prints by O. C. Riter, Charles Archer and O. E. Romig. 19 While the collection is made up of a majority of prints  from past and current Photo Section members, there are prints by other pictorialists. Some of the more notable  pictorialists include Gordon C. Abbott, Cecil B. Atwater, Aubrey A. Bodine, William O. Breckon, Vincent M. Chapman (medmber), Selden I. Davis (member), Frank Fraprie, Zoltan Herczegh, Walter Kneeland (member),  Carl Mansfield, Helen C. Manzer, Leonard Missone, H. K. Shigeta, P. F. Squire (member) and Francis Wu. The Photo Section  intends to continue collecting prints; for as long as members continue donating their award wining  prints and supporting the proper and important care of the collection.

  Into Modernism  

 As early as the mid 1910s, Alfred Stieglitz and some of his followers insisted that creative photographers pursue the unique aspects of the medium. Stieglitz later decided that the future of photography lay in the straight approach. 1   Shunning the manipulative techniques of the pictorialists, he believed in a direct vision of urban subjects, both cityscapes and images of humanity.  The modernist was to make creative pictures of everyday subjects, rendered in sharp focus and a full range of photographic tones.  Modernist photographers avoided common sentimentality and darkroom manipulation.  Initially, most pictorialists found this work cold, harsh, objective – mere documentary or record photography.  2  

 
Another factor influencing a broadening of subject matter was that after twenty plus years of pictorialism, subject matter and images became repetitious and redundant. With the pictorialist’s restrictive viewpoint on what makes a good picture, it was destined to fade.  In its place, modernism provided for different approaches to old subjects, abstracts and new techniques, such as solarization and posterazation. 
 In 1932 the purist “Group f.64” was formed, promoting “straight” photography; specifically, sharply focused images with prints with a full tonal range.  It’s interesting to note that some of the most important founders of the f.64 group – such as Ansel Adams, Imogen Cunningham and Edward Weston - began their careers making soft focused, sentimental images. Photo Section records show that Weston exhibited in the Pittsburgh Salons of 1917 through 1921, receiving the maximum of six acceptances in each year, except in 1920, when he had only three acceptances. Apparently, Weston turned to more purist work in the early 1920’s. 

 In reviewing  prints from the Pittsburgh salons of the1920’s into the late 1940’s there is a clear, gradual shift  away from soft focus prints - what some called “fuzzytypes,” - to sharp focused and full tonal range prints. To illustrate the degree of change from the 1920s, some Photo Section members in the Fifties became infatuated with B-B-G images - big, blue and glossy prints. These were sharply focused, full tonal range, sixteen by twenty inches, blue toned glossy (ferrotyped) prints. With the pictorialist’s restrictive viewpoint on what makes a good picture, it was destined to fade.  

 In the 1950’s and forward, Photo Section members practiced all of these new techniques and modernistic styles.  While classical pictorialism was fading and modernist styles grew, its interesting and important to recognizes that the term “pictorialist” has been maintained, but covers a range of art photography styles. However, in some cases it is difficult to distinguish between what one considers modernist pictorial images and sport, photojournalistic and abstract photographs.

 As Pictorialism was reaching new levels, other forces were beginning to change the magnitude and profile of amateur photography. In the early days, the cameras used by the pictorialists were bulky, heavy and relatively expensive. These were the tools of the serious (pictorial) photographer.  With the introduction of the smaller and lower cost cameras, especially the 35 mm camera, the popularity of amateur photography-particularly by snap shooters- grew dramatically.  The 35 mm camera also had a direct impact on the growth of the media, particularly newspaper and advertising photography.  The images made by the professional newspaper and commercial photographers opened new pictorial opportunities.

 Then there was the development of the 35mm color slide.    In the case of slides, the Photo Section was slow in accepting them; which may well have been a factor in the formation of a new color camera club in Pittsburgh - The Natural Color Camera Club (NCCC), chartered in January 1942. .  In the early years, the NCCC members met at various locations, including members homes. In 1948 it found its permanent home at the Arts and Crafts Center, later named the Pittsburgh Center for the Arts – located at the corner of Fifth and Shady Aves.  The club’s main interests included color prints and color slides, with slides being the main area of interest. There was always a friendly rivalry between the Photo Section and the NCCC – some avid photographers were members at both clubs and members often jokingly referred to the other as the “other club”.   Unfortunately, on October 2, 2002 the NCCC Board of Directors dissolved the club – due to decreasing membership.    Another camera club that made a home at the Pittsburgh Center for the Arts was the “Photo Imagers” (May 16, 1979 – January 1, 2000).  This club was a juried-entry club, made up of amateurs and professional photographers. While there was some pictorial photography, imagery was broad ranged; generally artistic in nature but excluding their commercial work. The Photo Imagers held periodic meetings and exhibitions; all held at the Art Center.  When the club was dissolved, some members transferred to the Pittsburgh Society for the Arts, an existing guild at the Art Center.

  Additional changes during this broad period also impacted the Photo Section’s functional activities.   After so many years of holding their meetings at the Carnegie Institute, the Photo Section moved across the road - with the completion of the University of Pittsburgh’s Cathedral of Learning in 1937 – to the meeting rooms in the Cathedral.  Included in their new location they had more space for meetings, and to work on the annual salons and a dark room for demonstrations. The annual membership dues at that time were $3. While the Photo Section found Pitt an adequate location, in October, 1955, Olli Romig- then President of the Photo Section- began negotiation with the City of Pittsburgh to lease space at the old King Mansion for the Photo Section’s use.  The mansion, located near Highland Park was a donation to the city for a cultural and conservation center.  In April of 1956 the Photo Section –considering the King Mansion to be a more appropriate and convenient location- was fortunate to be allotted two basement rooms in the King Mansion- for their “permanent” use. While there was no monthly lease charge, the Photo Section was required  to absorb its maintenance and modification costs.   The space was especially useful for the processing of the hundreds of packages of prints and slides that had to be handled for the annual salons. A dark room was also added. After some time, effort and money the basement work rooms were cleaned and outfitted.  A meeting room was also prepared- on the first floor. Membership dues, at that time had increased to $5 a year.   This location served the club very well until the end of the 1971-1972 membership season when the City of Pittsburgh evicted the Photo Section - the city administration had other plans for the King Mansion.  From there the Photo Section’s meeting were held in several locations, including the F. Stop Gallery for four years and one year at the Ivy School of Professional Art.  The Photo Section found a more permanent home for the 1977-1978 season, at the Mt. Lebanon Recreation Center.  To cover increased costs for meeting space rental, membership dues went to $17. In 1981, the club went to a three meetings per month schedule; with a dues increase to $20.

 At the 34th Annual Pittsburgh Salon held March 21- April 20, 1947,  a color slide category was added to the salon. At this exhibit, there were 167 monochrome prints accepted, out of 932 submissions from 238 contributors.  In the color slide category, however 352 slides were accepted out of 1001 slides from 253 entrants. Clearly, color photography had become dominant in the salons. While the prints were always open for viewing during the Carnegie Galleries regular hours, slides were only projected on Sundays. While some color prints were accepted for many years – often hand colored - a separate color print category was not established until the 52nd Salon, in 1965. In this salon, of the total of 1038 prints submitted by   266 persons – fifty one were from nine foreign countries- 179 prints were selected for the salon; of which thirty were color prints. In the slide category, 2148   slides were submitted by 290 persons. The jury selected 453 slides for the show. While some pictorialists shunned   color slides (Kodak had introduced Kodachrome film in 1937) many currant photographers and new entrants to photography were lured to this exciting, new and easy way to create photographic images. By the 1950’s slide submissions overwhelmed classical (B&W) pictorial works. Unfortunately, the print and slide salons, for many, degenerated into a quest for ratings. This trend further weakened the photo salon’s artistic status.  Many slide makers began sending the same slides to salons around the world-collecting higher and higher “Star Ratings” and Galaxy Awards”.  How different this was/is from the early salon days where salons would not accept an image that had already been exhibited. Before or made more than a year ago! It has been suggested that color and, especially color sides, was the final blow in the deterioration of pictorialism and the salon movement While the print makers were also  up in this flurry for print “Star” rankings, the cost of sending prints to salons around the world and the time and effort of making prints was somewhat  effective in controlling this portion  of the competition.  .
The changes that were happening in photography were gradual, but imposed dramatic impacts on the salons. All of the Pittsburgh Salons, from the first in1914 until the 59th in 1972 were exhibited in the Carnegie Art Galleries, with the exception of the 44th in March of 1957, due to a schedule conflict at the Carnegie Art Gallery. As it turned out, the salon was preempted by another, more significant photo exhibit: The Family of Man, created by Edward Steichen.   At this salon, while the color slides for the 44th salon were shown at the Carnegie Lecture Hall, the prints were exhibited at the Kaufmann’s Department Store Art Galleries.  In addition to the salon prints, the Photo Section brought in a special exhibition of color prints by Mr. Lynn Faymann APSA of La Jolla CA. Then in 1958, with the full salon back at the Carnegie, the Carnegie provided additional exhibition space to include a one man show of prints by the well known portrait photographer, Yousuf Karsh. With these two exhibits, the Photo Section included significant outsourced exhibitions to all further salons at the Carnegie until 1972.  Such exhibits brought variety, contrast and a broader awareness and understanding of the art and craft of photography.  These exhibits also gave increased prestige to the Carnegie Institute.

 In about the 1950s, other changes-somewhat related to the salon movement-began to impact the status of the salons.  On such factor was the desire of galleries and museums to have greater control of their exhibition schedules and contents-in particular photo related exhibits.   As one of the results, in 1955, the Baltimore Museum of Art evicted, once and for all, the Baltimore Camera Club’s salon. It is interesting, if not significant, to note that soon after their eviction, the Baltimore club discontinued using the term ‘salon’ and went back to calling their presentations “exhibitions”.  In hindsight, it was not a surprise for the Photo Section to lose its salon position at the Carnegie Museum after 1972. It was a sad day for the Photo Section when, in early 1972, two officers of the Photo Section’s Salon Committee met with Carnegie Museum  Director Leon Arkus, who  advised that the Photo Section would not, after the 1972 exhibit,  have access to the Carnegie Art Galleries. The short term issue was that the Carnegie Institute was  about to undertake a major construction program; specifically the addition of the Scaife Galley.   Longer range, the Carnegie Museum management needed more flexibility in their program scheduling and was planning to change its philosophy regarding the use of Carnegie’s galleries-including a more variable, but reduced coverage  of photography. Considering what happened at the Baltimore Museum, Pittsburgh was fortunate to have been at the Carnegie as long as it did. 

 

As the oldest salon series in the USA, the Photo Section continued with its salons for another eight years until 1980- with the 67th Pittsburgh International Salon of Photographic Art! In those last years the salons were exhibited at Kaufmann’s Department Store in 1973 and 1974 and then at Filmet F-Stop Galleries for the last 6 years.  After the last exhibit in 1980, the Photo Section board decided to end the Pittsburgh Salon. The Photo Section concluded that it could no longer support  a salon  with the increased postage costs and difficulties  in finding satisfactory venues for the salon exhibits.  Also, due to cultural life style changes where members - especially younger members - had  less free time to spend the long hours required to process all the hundreds of  salon entries,  hang the exhibitions and administer the  programs.  
The Photo Section after the Salons- to the Present

 After 1980, the Photo Section continued with an annual juried exhibit. To maintain salon standards, the three selected judges are respected professional photographers or members of other clubs in the region.   This reduced salon, as the members called it, continues until today and includes both slide and print categories and is limited to Photo Section members.  Generally, about fifty to sixty-five percent of the submissions are accepted for the print and slide exhibits.  Cash awards are given for the best print and slide.  The exhibit is presented at one of the regular club meetings and at two of the Academy’s regular travelogue programs. Usually, the exhibit is presented to about three other camera clubs in the region. 

In early 1984, the Photo Section decided to prepare a special exhibition to celebrate the Photo Sections   100th anniversary of its formation - and the fact of it being the oldest, continuous photography club in the USA. The Photo Section prepared a collection of 71 prints for a “Centennial Exhibition”, made up primarily of early pictorialist works from the Photo Section’s Permanent Print Collection. Some more recent salon prints by current members were added to show current imagery.   Members did all the work of obtaining funding, matting, framing, hanging and delivering the exhibit to several venues.  The Centennial Exhibition opened at the PPG Industries Wintergarden, with a reception at 4 PM. on Saturday, January 17, 1985.  The exhibit ran until February 17, 1985.  From there it went to the Westmoreland Arts & Heritage Festival in Greensburg, PA (July 4 –7, 1985), The Rotunda of the Cannon House Building in Washington D. C. (September 22 – October 19, 1985), the Johnstown Art Extension gallery (March 27-April 23,1986) and lastly, to the studio gallery of Herb Ascherman in Cleveland Heights, OH, which was arrange by the North Eastern Ohio Camera Club Council.  In the following year, the Southern Alleghenies Museum of Art requested an exhibit of images of Pittsburgh to be exhibited at their Blair Art Museum in Hollidaysburg, PA. This exhibit of 34 prints from the Photo Section’s collection focused on the works of Pittsburgh pictorial photographers. This exhibit ran from October 14 to November 25, 1987.  In1990, a similar exhibit was prepared at the request of the Academy, to celebrate It’s Centennial.  This exhibit was held at the Pittsburgh Soldiers and Sailors Hall in Oakland.

 More recently, the Photo Section was honored to be asked to loan some prints -from the Permanent Print Collection- to the Minneapolis Institute of Arts and the Carnegie Institute. During February 8 – May 4, 1997, The Minneapolis Institute presented- at their galleries – an exhibition entitled “AFTER THE PHOTO-SECESSION, American Pictorial Photography, 1910-1955.”  Three prints  from the Photo Section were included in this exhibit- Charles K. Archer’s  “Bridge Beam Shadows” 1927,  Hiromo Kira’s “Study, Paperwork,” 1927 and O. C. Reiter’s “The Husbanman”  1919.  This exhibit traveled to seven other museums in the USA.  From November 8, 1997 to January 25, 1998 the Carnegie exhibited “PITTSBURGH REVEALED, Photographs Since 1850”. For this exhibit, the Photo Section contributed three prints: two prints by Charles K. Archer,  “Decorative Treatment” and ”Prosperity-A Vision”  and a print by Selden  I. Davis, “Pittsburghesque” – which was a signature print for this exhibit as it was used as the inside full cover page and  on promotional posters.  While not provided by the Photo Section, prints from other Photo Section members were also included in this exhibit – F. Ross Altwater and H. C. Torrance.

 It has often been said that ‘there is nothing new in the world’.  Well, that was disputed with the invention of photography.  Then, as the Photo Section was approaching the twenty-first century, the invention of digital photography brought a dramatic change to the art and craft of photography.  At first, the Photo Section members ignored this imaging process, considering is quite inferior in quality to traditional photographic processes.  However, as digital technology improved, in 2001, the club accepted digital images in their regular club programs and competitions. However, just as there was a long-time debate during the early years of photography whether photography is an art, so we can expect debates one whether digital imagery is photography.  By year 2003, one-hundred-percent digital images were competing well in both monochrome and color categories.  This is not to say that traditional processes were abandoned-to the contrary, some members continued with traditional photographic processes.  Interestingly, new members were joining because of the Photo Section’s commitment to traditional black & white photography. For some such members, there is a special satisfaction in practicing their camera and dark room techniques-to create a more hands-on image.  How long will traditional photography continue? -surly, to some degree, for a long time.  In the case of amateur photography, it will continue along with some of the old processed that are still in practice- bromoil, carbon, platinum. 

 During these most recent years, the membership has continued to hold at about seventy-five to one-hundred; similar to levels dating back over one-hundred years.  The future of the Photo 

Section-as with any organization-is due to the members enthusiasm and commitment to their craft and the club.

  The Academy  today

 By 1914 - as the Photo Section was launching its new salon program - the Academy  had grown to 11 sections. In addition to the Photo Section,  it included the Pedagological, Eugenics, French, Dramatic Art, Pictorial Art, Biology-Geology, Germanistic, Esperanto, Hygienics and Economics-Sociology.  Over subsequent years the primary  activity of the Academy was conducting regular educational lectures; supporting the sections’ educational  mission. The number of lectures varied from year to year;  they reported an increase in annual lectures from 23 in 1933-34 to 46 in 1945-46. However, there were significant cultural, economic and, especially, educational developments between the formation of the Academy and the 1940’s that impacted the Academy. Quoting from  Academy President, O. E. Jennings’ Annual Report of  March 27, 1947,  “With the development of Pitt,  (Carnegie) Tech, and other institutions of higher learning nearby, the Academy need not carry on study sections, such as French, German, biology, etc., and  with the development and activity of fine arts, our field has become more definitely limited to the presentation of informative material in the general  field of science.”  In effect, the Academy continues with an illustrated  lecture program, focused on travel and exploration.  Only two sections remained, the Photo Section and the Amateur Astronomers Association of Pittsburgh, which was later changed  to its current name,-The Astronomical Section.

 

 

 

 

 

 

